FILED

QCT 8 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

By Chief Deputy Clerk

FRANK A. WALLS,

v.

Appellant,

CASE NO. 80,364

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

SERVED DAYS LATE

##

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Frank Walls appeals from the retrial of his capital case. On April 11, 1991, this Court reversed this case for a new trial. Walls v. State, 580 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1991). Pursuant to this Court's instructions, portions of the original record in this prior appeal (Case No. 73,261) were not reproduced for the appellate record of this retrial (Case No. 80,364). Consequently, references to pertinent portions of the prior record on appeal will be designated with the prefix "PR" followed by the page number from the prior record. References to the new record will be designated with the prefix "R."

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## Procedural Progress of the Case

On August 10, 1987, an Okaloosa County grand jury returned a ten count indictment charging Frank A. Walls with the following offenses: (1) armed burglary of a dwelling located at Rodon's Auto Sales; (2) armed burglary of a conveyance, an automobile belonging to Rodon's Auto Sales; (3) theft of the same automobile; (4) first degree murder of Edward Alger; (5) first degree murder of Ann Louise Peterson; (6) armed burglary of a dwelling belonging to Alger and Peterson; (7) possession of burglary tools; (8) kidnapping of Edward Alger; (9) kidnapping of Ann Peterson; and (10) theft of \$300 from Alger and Peterson. (PR 1865-1868) Walls pleaded not guilty on the same day. (PR 1869) A jury trial commenced on July 12, 1988. (PR 2, 27)

Walls moved for a judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case. (PR 1262) The court partially granted the motion. (PR 1263-1273) Count one, charging armed burglary was reduced to unarmed burglary. (PR 1262) Counts two and three, charging burglary of a conveyance and theft of the automobile, were dismissed. (PR 1265) Count seven, charging possession of burglary tools was also dismissed. (PR 1267) Finally, count ten, charging grand theft, was reduced to petit theft. (PR 1273) The jury found Walls guilty of all charges as submitted. (PR 1391-1393) On the murder counts, the jury entered a specific verdict: felony murder for the death of Edward Alger and premeditated and felony murder for the death of Ann Peterson.

(PR 1392-1393) After hearing additional evidence in mitigation, the jury recommended a life sentence for the murder of Edward Alger and, by a vote of seven to five, a death sentence for the murder of Ann Peterson. (PR 1572-1574) Circuit Judge G. Robert Barron adjudged Walls guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder of Ann Peterson. (PR 2116-2118) He sentenced Walls to life for the murder of Edward Alger. (PR 2119)

Walls timely appealed to this Court on August 30, 1988.

(PR 2138) This Court reversed the case for a new trial on April 11, 1991. Walls v. State, 580 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1991). The State proceeded to trial on the seven counts of the indictment which survived the first trial. (R 7)(PR 1265-1267) Because of pretrial publicity, the trial court changed venue for the trial from Okaloosa County to Jackson County. (R 1079-1080)

The jury found Walls guilty as charged. (R 1127-1129) As to the murder of Edward Alger, the jury found Walls guilty of first degree felony murder. (R 1127) The jury specified that the murder of Ann Peterson was both a felony murder and premeditated. (R 1128) A penalty phase was conducted for purposes of securing a jury sentencing recommendation for the murder of Ann Peterson and the jury recommended a death sentence. (R 1120)

Circuit Judge G. Robert Barron sentenced Walls on June 18, 1992. (R 1142-1171) Walls was sentenced to five years for the burglary of a structure (Count 1)(R 1145); twenty years for the armed burglary of a dwelling (Count 6)(R 1151); twenty years for kidnapping (Count 8)(R 1153); twenty years for kidnapping

(Count 9) (R 1155); and two months in jail for the petit theft (Count 10) (R 1157) For the murder of Edward Alger (Count 4), Walls was sentenced to life imprisonment. (R 1147-1148) Judge Barron sentenced Walls to death for the murder of Ann Peterson (Count 5). (R 1149-1150, 1161-1171)

The court found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) Walls had a previous conviction for a violent felony -- the contemporaneous murder of Edward Alger (R 1163); (2) the murder was committed during a burglary and kidnapping (R 1163-1164); (3) the murder was committed to avoid a lawful arrest (R 1164); (4) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain (R 1164-1165); (5) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (R 1165-1166); and (6) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 1166-1168) As statutory mitigating circumstances, the court found: (1) Walls had no significant history of prior criminal activity; and (2) Walls age (19 years) at the time of the crime. (R 1168-1169) court acknowledged the expert testimony that Walls was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime. (R 1168) However, the court concluded that the statutory mitigating circumstance had not been proven by the preponderance of the evidence. (R 1168) Additionally, the court specifically found that Walls was not suffering a substantially impaired capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct. (R 1169) Regarding nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, the court considered several and listed them as follows:

- 1. The defendant was classified by school counselors and psychologists as being emotionally handicapped based on his "acting out" behavior.
- 2. The defendant had apparent brain dysfunction possibly caused by slight brain damage, although not medically diagnosed. This dysfunction was manifested by the defendant's difficulty in learning mathematical and verbal skills.
- 3. The defendant's intelligence quotient decreased from the time he was school age to the present. His I.Q. scores dropped from "Average" level to "Low Normal." Dr. Hagerott testified that, in her opinion, the defendant is extremely immature and his behavioral control is in many ways consistent with a child in the middle to late elementary school age, and that the defendant is functioning intellectually at about the age of 12 or 13.
- 4. The defendant confessed to law enforcement officials and cooperated fully with the investigation. He voluntarily surrendered to authorities when apprehended.
- 5. The defendant maintained a loving relationship with his parents and sibling brother, and at times physically carried his brother around when his brother was incapacitated due to surgery from a club foot disorder.
- 6. The defendant was a good worked (sic) during the time periods he was employed.
- 7. The defendant had at times exhibited kindness and compassion toward weak, crippled or helpless persons and animals.

### (R 1169-1170)

Walls filed his notice of appeal to this Court on August 12, 1992. (R 1212)

### Facts -- Guilt Phase

Amy Ripley lived in a trailer park next door to her friends, Edward Alger and Ann Peterson. (R 412-413) Around

2:00 a.m. on the morning of July 22, 1987, she awoke to loud voices coming from her neighbor's trailer. (R 413) She did not recognize the voices since they were muffled. (R 413) The only word she could distinguish was "no" which was said a few times. (R 421) She also heard crashing noises. (R 413, 423) Ripley heard popping noises which sounded like three gunshots. (R 414) There was a pause after the first pop and before the second and third. (R 414) At the time, she assumed the noises were not gunshots; she thought someone might be nailing pictures on a wall. (R 414) She testified that she heard the words, "no, no, no" before the popping noises. (R 421) However, Ripley admitted that in her statement made the day after the incident she said the words "no, no, no" came after the three popping sounds. (R 423-424) Ripley got out of bed and observed Alger's trailer through her living room window. (R 414) A light in Alger's bedroom was going off and on. (R 415) Ripley walked outside of her trailer to investigate. (R 415-416) She watched Alger's trailer for a few minutes; she saw the silhouette of a clothed man in the living room and assumed it was Alger. (R 416-418) The light in Alger's bedroom went off again. (R 419) Believing that her neighbors merely had an argument, Ripley returned to bed at 2:14 a.m. (R 416, 419-420) After returning to bed, Ripley heard two more popping noises. (R 420-421)

Edward Alger failed to report for duty at Eglin Air Force Base on July 22, 1987. (R 426) His superior and co-worker, Sergeant John Calloway, telephoned Alger's residence several times during the day without receiving an answer. (R 426-427)

The next day, Calloway went to Alger's trailer. (R 427-428) With the help of the trailer park manager and a screwdriver, Calloway broke open the trailer door and went inside. (R 428-429) A friend of Alger's and Peterson's, who had lived with them for a time, said that they had used a screwdriver to open the door in the past when they had locked their keys inside. (R 438-441) In the front bedroom, Calloway saw the body of a woman. (R 428) He immediately left and telephoned the police. (R 429)

Investigators found the body of Ann Peterson lying face down on the floor of the front bedroom of the trailer. (R 433, 445) Her face rested on a pillow, and a lead bullet was found nearby. (R 395-396, 445) Peterson had suffered two wounds. According to the medical examiner, Dr. Kielman, a bullet penetrated the cranial cavity causing Peterson's death. (R 566-567, 575-577) A second wound to the cheek did little damage. (R 566-567) The medical examiner testified that this wound could have been caused by a glancing gunshot. (R 566-567) The penetrating wound to the head would have caused unconsciousness instantly. (R 587-588)

Edward Alger's body was found on the floor of the second bedroom in the trailer. (R 434, 445) His feet were tied with a drapery cord. (R 514-515, 611) A cord was also tied to his left wrist. (R 514-515, 611) The cord proved to be consistent with the curtain cord in the living room of the trailer which had been cut. (R 608-616) It appeared as if a struggle occurred in the bedroom because of the disarray. (R 405-451) A fan

was on the floor with a broken protective grate. (R 450) Alger had been shot three times and his throat cut. (R 547-554) medical examiner found that a sharp object produced a single incised wound to Alger's throat. (R 551-554) His jugular veins were cut (R 554), but Alger would have remained conscious and able to struggle with this wound. (R 582-584) There were scratches on his feet which could have been caused by his stepping through the grate of the fan. (R 583) Two penetrating gunshot wounds to the head caused Alger's death. (R 547-550, 563) One entered above the left cheek and was fired from some distance away since there was no powder stippling to the wound. (R 549-551) The bullet traversed the brain and was recovered. (R 551, 562) The second gunshot wound was a near contact wound since there was some stippling around the wound. (R 548-549) This bullet entered above the right eye, went through the brain and was recovered. (R 548-549, 562) A third quashot entered the neck at the end of the incised wound and travelled through the floor of the mouth. (R 551-552) The medical examiner believed this wound to be a contact wound because there was no stippling of the surrounding skin. (R 551-552)

Before midnight on July 21, Carol Simmons, who was then the manager of the bar, Kay's Body Shop, saw Frank Walls in the bar. (R 653) He was a regular patron and she did not pay much attention to him. (R 653) She said she did not know if he was drinking but she knew he was not spending much money. (R 653) She said that Frank normally did not talk much or spend much money. (R 653, 656) He left around midnight, but he returned

about 3:30, just before closing time. (R 654) Simmons said Frank was spending money, buying drinks and tipping the dancers. (R 654) He said he had won the money in a pool tournament at another bar. (R 654) After the bar closed, Simmons had a conversation with Frank which was unusual since Frank had not talked to her in the past. Simmons said that Frank had been drinking, but was not drunk. (R 654) Frank left the bar around 4:30 a.m. (R 655)

On the morning of July 22, a salesman at Rondon Auto Sales determined that the dealership had been burglarized. (R 642-643) The salesman, Delbert Allen, discovered a broken window in the office. (R 644) A fan, a telephone and a lawnmower were missing. (R 643-644) Also, a 1980 Oldsmobile had been driven and the side of the car had been scraped. (R 643) Whoever broke into the office would have had access to the keys to the cars on the lot. (R 644)

Deputy Peter Jones was securing the crime scene of the homicides on the morning of July 23. (R 436-437) Around noon, Frank Walls came by the scene in a vehicle driven by John Early. (R 437) Jones knew Walls and stopped him. (R 437) He engaged Walls in a brief conversation. (R 437) Walls said he had heard about the murder and told Jones that he hoped the perpetrator would be caught. (R 437)

Investigators executed a search warrant for John Early's trailer, where he and Frank lived, on July 24, 1987. (R 480-499, 507-508) Frank was present and cooperated with the officers during the search. (R 480-487) The officers seized

several items of evidence. (R 480-499, 507-508) Among the items were a .22 caliber revolver; three knives; several shirts and pants; cowboy boots; two fans; two cordless telephones; a piece of white drapery cord and an oversized, "biker" type wallet. (R 480-499, 507-508, 638) Frank's fingerprints were also obtained. (R 499-500) A friend of Edward Alger's and Ann Peterson's identified the wallet as similar to Alger's and one of the two fans as Peterson's. (R 648-650) The salesman from Rodon's Auto Sales identified the telephones and one fan as similar to the ones missing from the car lot office. (R 643-647) Testing on the clothing, boots and knives revealed the presence of blood on some of the items. (R 616-630) One of the knives had blood on it, but there was insufficient quantity to determine if it was human or animal. (R 623) One T-shirt had a blood stain which was too small to test for human characteristics. (R 624) Two other shirts had human blood on them, and one had blood which proved to be consistent with that of Edward Alger's. (R 625, 627-628) Alger's blood type was also found on a pair of jeans. (R 629-630) A small amount of human blood was detected on one of the cowboy boots. (R 625-626) Ballistic testing showed that Alger and Peterson were killed with .22 caliber bullets, but these bullets were too badly damaged for comparison purposes. (R 639-640) However, the bullet found on the floor near Peterson's head matched the ballistic characteristics of the .22 revolver seized. (R 640-641) The drapery cord seized was similar in size, color and construction to the cord used to tie Alger and other pieces of cord found at the

crime scene. (R 608-615) Finally, Frank's fingerprints matched latent prints developed on a picture in Edward Alger's bedroom and on the fan seized during the search which was identified as Ann Peterson's. (R 599-601, 604)

Deputy Robert Hughs and Investigator Don Vinson obtained statements from Frank about his involvement in the crimes. (R 462-477, 660-694) Hughs talked to Frank during the execution of the search warrant and later at the sheriff's office. (R 462-477) Vinson talked to Frank at the sheriff's office and obtained a tape recorded statement. (R 660-694) Hughs told Frank that he knew about the money Frank had and asked him about his activities on that night. (R 465) Frank admitted taking the car from the car lot to use for the night. (R 466-467) After spending some time with K.C. and John Early, Frank then rode around alone. (R 468) He stopped at "Animal's" trailer. (R 468) "Animal" lived near Edward Alger's trailer. (R 468-469) Frank used an ice pick to open the door of Alger's trailer and entered, carrying a knife and a gun with him. (R 469)

Frank related the events which occurred inside the trailer to Hughs and later on tape for Don Vinson. (R 469-477, 660-694) (State's Exhibits QQ is the edited tape recording played for the jury) When Frank entered the trailer, the only light burning was inside the fish tank. (R 469) He cut a cord from a curtain and walked into the back bedroom of the trailer. (R 469, 669) Alger and Peterson were asleep. (R 469, 669) Frank pushed over a fan and turned on the light to wake them up. (R

469, 669) Edward Alger was nude except for a chain around his neck, and Peterson wore only a shirt. (R 469) Frank had Peterson tie Alger up with the cord, and Frank then took her to the living room where he tied her up with another cord and gagged her with a sock. (R 469, 669-670) Hearing Alger moving around, Frank returned to the back bedroom where Alger attacked him. (R 470, 670) During the fight, Alger bit Frank on his leg. (R 470, 671) Frank pulled his knife and cut him one time in the throat. (R 470, 671) The fight continued, Frank lost control of his knife, and he then shot Alger three times. (R 470, 672)

Frank said the following about his mental state after the shooting, "I went berserk, I went nuts, I went crazy." (R 673) He began turning the lights off and on to search around, but he said, "I was nuts and I was, I don't know where I was, I don't know what I was doing." (R 673) Frank was scared. (R 675) He went to Ann Peterson and told her that he had not wanted to hurt them. (R 674) He said, "I didn't want to do nothing to hurt y'all. I just wanted to get some things, you know, and he attacked me...." (R 674) Peterson then asked Frank if Alger was okay. (R 1230) Frank responded, "[N]o." (R 674) At that point, Peterson began fighting Frank. (R 674) They struggled. (R 674) Although he did not really remember doing so, Frank had, at some point, untied her. (R 674-675) In the struggle, he tore her shirt off. (R 674-675) Frank said he was paranoid and did not want any witnesses. (R 675) He pushed Peterson's face into a pillow and shot her twice. (R 675) Frank said she

screamed after the first shot just before he shot the second time. (R 684-685) Frank took a wallet and an oscillating fan and left the trailer. (R 471) He changed clothes, threw the identification from the wallet away, returned the car to Rodon's Auto Sales and went to Kay's Body Shop. (R 676-677)

Investigator Vinson asked Frank why he was turning the lights off and on in the trailer. (R 681) Frank said he could not explain any of his behavior that night because it was as if people in his mind were telling him to do these acts. (R 681)

VINSON: Okay, let me take you back to the trailer a minute. Why were you turning the light on and why were you turning the light off?

WALLS: I don't know what made me do the whole thing. I don't know. I mean it's just like I got people talking to me and telling me to do these things. I don't know, it's just like, I don't know what the fuck made me do it.

VINSON: You're talking about in your mind people's talking to you, is that right?

WALLS: Yeah. I don't know what made me do it.

(R 681) Vinson testified that at times during the interview Frank was upset and teary-eyed. (R 693-694)

## Penalty Phase and Sentencing

The state presented no additional testimony during the penalty phase of the trial. (R 787) The state specifically relied upon the evidence presented during the guilt phase of the case. (R 787) Walls presented the testimony of three

mental health experts and several family friends and family members. (R 787-915)

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