JAN 11 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

FRANK WALLS,

Appellant,

v.

, 9 }

.

CASE NO. 80,364

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

د ما د

> Turning to Mr. Garvin, the reasons cited were also raceneutral.

> The State noted that Garvin worked with inmates and generally felt the State had given them a bad deal. Garvin's responses regarding the death penalty were confused ("referendum vs. trial"), but clearly indicated he would vote against the death penalty if there was any possible way around it. Walls' brief relies upon <u>Witherspoon</u> argument, but this is not a <u>Witherspoon</u> case and the State does not have to meet that standard.

> Given the observations by the trial judge, the race-neutral reasons advanced by the prosecutor, the legal presumption that the judge followed the law, and the confused and contradictory "objection" by trial counsel, it is obvious that the <u>Batson</u> claim at bar is meritless. The trial court correctly denied relief and no abuse of discretion has been demonstrated. <u>Reed</u>, <u>supra</u>; Files, supra.

POINT III

THE JURY WAS NOT OVERWORKED OR ABUSED BY THE TRIAL COURT

The claim that the jury was overworked is simply not true. The trial court followed a schedule that ran from 9:00 a.m. until roughly 5:30 p.m., with morning and afternoon recesses and a ninety minute lunch.

Mr. Walls cites to the day that the penalty phase evidence was received, but fails to note that court adjourned by 5:40 p.m. (R 930), after a typical work schedule and frequent breaks. Thus, the only "long" day put in by the jury was the evening they were sequestered to consider Mr. Walls' guilt.

There is no factual similarity between this case and <u>United</u> <u>States v. McClain</u>, 823 F.2d 1457 (11th Cir. 1987). No extraordinary hours were worked (an eight hour day is not unusual), no special conditions had to be invoked, no jurors fell asleep and no one complained of fatigue.

The only incidents cited by Mr. Walls as "indicative" of jury fatigue involved the same juror, Ms. Walker.

On the third day of trial the judge detected her "nodding" during the testimony of the coroner. The court questioned Ms. Walker and determined she was not asleep, not fatigued and had enjoyed a full night's sleep the night before. The court was justified in finding no basis for a mistrial. <u>Whitehead v.</u> State, 446 So.2d 194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

On the last day of trial, Ms. Walker needed a ride home to get her medicine and was of the (mistaken) belief that <u>she</u> had to pay the hotel bill if the jury was sequestered. The problem was

- 14 -

easily resolved without objection by the defense.⁴ Jacobs v. Wainwright, 450 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1984); Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

•

Again, an eight hour day is not onerous and the practice of sequestration has never been held to constitute reversible error. The decision to conduct the trial from 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. was clearly within the court's discretion.

This issue is clearly devoid of merit and unworthy of extended discussion.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON VARIOUS AGGRAVATING FACTORS

The fourth point on appeal questions the trial court's decision to give standard jury instructions (on the statutory aggravating factors) and not to give special jury instructions on both aggravating and mitigating factors.

To avoid redundant argument, the State notes at the outset that the standard jury instructions on the "heinous, atrocious, cruel" and "cold, calculated, premeditated" factors have not been declared improper or somehow constitutionally deficient. On the contrary, the instruction on the "heinous, atrocious, cruel" factor was specifically approved in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1993), while the cited case of <u>Hodges v. Florida</u>, _____U.S. _____, 121 L.Ed.2d 6 (1992), was decided, on remand, in <u>Hodges v.</u> <u>State</u>, ______So.2d _____ (Fla. 1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly S255, on

⁴ As noted before, Walker was taken to her home, got her medicine and served without further incident or discussion.

procedural grounds.⁵ Mr. Walls filed a pretrial objection to the standard instructions (R 1107-1114).

(A) The Heinous, Atrocious, Cruel Instruction

The trial court gave the approved standard jury instruction on the "heinous, atrocious, cruel" (HAC) aggravating factor; towit:

> Fourth, the crime for which the defendant is be sentenced is especially heinous, to atrocious, or cruel. Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil. Atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile. Cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to or even enjoyment of the suffering of others. The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious or cruel is the one accompanied by additional acts to show that the crime was pitiless conscienceless or and was unnecessarily torturous to the victim.

(R 1011-1012).

•

•

Mr. Walls wanted the following instruction:

The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. To be heinous, atrocious or cruel, the defendant must have deliberately inflicted or consciously chosen a method of death with the intent to cause extraordinary mental or physical pain to the victim, and the victim must have actually, consciously, suffered such pain for a substantial period of time before death.

(R 1108).

The proposed instruction is inaccurate, misleading and clearly one to which Mr. Walls was not entitled. <u>Butler v.</u>

⁵ The <u>Hodges</u> decision notes, <u>en</u> <u>passant</u>, that challenges to the "premeditation" factor as vague have been rejected, citing <u>Fotopoulos v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992), and <u>Klokoc v.</u> State, 589 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1991).

<u>State</u>, 493 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1986). The most glaring deficiency in the proposed instruction is its elimination of conscienceless and indifferent murders from the milieu of possible crimes.

Mr. Walls' instruction would only allow the HAC factor if the crime:

(1) Was especially <u>planned</u> as a torturous or cruel murder.

(2) Induced "extraordinary" mental or physical pain.

(3) Was committed against a victim who remained conscious for a "substantial period of time".

None of which adequately adheres to the law regarding this factor.

As the State will show in its proportionality argument below, the murder of Ann Peterson was so clearly heinous, atrocious and cruel that any "error" attending the use of the standard instruction was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Ann Peterson was asleep in her own home when Walls intentionally woke her (R 1165). She was forced at gunpoint to tie up her boyfriend (R 1165). She was taken to the living room, bound and gagged (R 1165). "She was left to hear the violent life and death struggle between the defendant and her boyfriend." (R 1165). She heard the three shots fired into Mr. Alger (R 1165). She saw <u>Walls</u> return to her rather than Alger (R 1165). Ann begged to be told Mr. Alger was alive and Walls told her, "No" (R 1165). Walls confessed to taunting and terrifying Ann (R 1166). Walls ripped off her clothes (R 1166). He marched her into the front bedroom (R 1166). He shot her non-fatally (R 1166). Ann laid screaming on the floor (R 1166). Walls then shot her in the head (R 1166).

Ann Peterson suffered the deliberate infliction of both mental and physical anguish at the hands of a callous and uncaring killer. Mr. Walls' instruction sought to unduly restrict the HAC factor to exclude murders that are heinous due to the callous indifference of the killer, but given Walls' confession that he never intended to leave any witnesses and that he taunted Ann Peterson prior to beating, shooting and killing her, it is clear that the HAC factor would have applied even under his incorrect definition.

Just as this Court has upheld the concept of "harmless error" in cases arising under Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. ____, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992) (incorrect HAC instruction), <u>see Gorby v. State</u>, _____ So.2d _____ (Fla. 1993), 18 Fla.L.Weekly S263; <u>cf</u>. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1993), the concept should be applied when the "HAC" instruction was a correct one.

(B) The Cold, Calculated, Premeditated Instruction

The Appellant's challenge to the "cold, calculated, premeditated" (CCP) instruction is a hopeful request for an extension of Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. ____, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), based upon <u>Hodges v. Florida, supra</u>, which we have already discussed.

Mr. Walls' CCP instruction suffered from the same legal and factual problems as his HAC instruction. The multiple

- 18 -

instructions (set out on page 55 of Appellant's brief), do not clarify or correctly refine the CCP factor. Instead, they clearly seek to redefine the factor in a manner which unduly limits the factor's scope. As such, the proposed instructions could fairly be defined as <u>a comment on the evidence</u>, disallowed by <u>Fenelon v. State</u>, 594 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1992).

The first set of instructions (brief at 55), correctly state that proof of heightened preparation for a burglary is not necessarily proof of heightened preparation for any ensuing murder, but the instruction goes on to usurp the jury's duty to weigh such evidence by flatly declaring Walls' "heightened preparation" inapplicable "even if it does exist". Similarly, the instruction expansively defines a "pretense of moral or legal justification" as "<u>any claim</u>" propounded by the defense, and is totally inaccurate.

In contrast to the proposed instruction, the standard instruction clearly satisfied constitutional standards. <u>See</u> <u>Arave v. Creech</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 113 S.Ct. 1534, 123 L.Ed.2d 188 (1993). As noted therein, a jury instruction is only required to guide the sentencer, not precisely dictate the applicable sentence. <u>See Walton v. Arizona</u>, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111 L.Ed.2d 511 (1990); Lewis v. Jeffers, 497 U.S. 764 (1990).

The Supreme Court, in <u>Arave</u>, noted the difference between those jurisdictions in which the judge, guided by decisional law, is the sentencer rather than the jury. (In Florida, the judge is the sentencer and the advisory jury does not report findings in aggravation or mitigation, but, rather, merely provides a

- 19 -

recommendation. <u>Spaziano v. Florida</u>, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984); <u>Hildwin v. Florida</u>, 490 U.S. 638 (1989)). Since the sentencer in Florida is the judge, and not the jury, <u>Arave v. Creech</u> applies to the extent that the diminished impact of any jury instruction (to a non-sentencing jury) on the final sentence is apparent.

It is well settled that the standard jury instructions should be given when they correctly state the law. <u>In the Matter</u> <u>of the Use of Standard Jury Instructions</u>, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1981). In this case Mr. Walls has failed to show any error in the standard instruction. He simply preferred his own.

Given the fact that this crime clearly qualified as cold, calculated and premeditated (again, see below), any error was harmless. <u>DiGuilio</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Walls planned this crime as a murder from the outset. The rational inference drawn from the record by the judge, as sentencer, was that Walls (who confessed to a motive of witnesselimination):

> ". . . proceeded directly to the back bedroom and intentionally awakened both victims. He made no effort to conceal his identity. The property that he ultimately took was taken from the living room area, and the taking of that property did not necessitate waking and confronting the victims.

(R 1167).

Thus, all of the evidence of planning and preparation recounted by the court (R 1166-1167), clearly applied to the murder rather than simply to any burglary, and the CCP factor would apply under either the standard or proposed instructions.

(C) Non-Statutory Mitigation

. •

The trial court did not recite special jury instructions recognizing as "proven" various non-statutory mitigating factors proposed by the defense. Again, the jury <u>was</u> told that it was not limited in its consideration of any mitigating factor, including any aspect of the defendant's character or record (a point confessed in Walls' brief at page 61). The defense, however, wanted more:

> I would request, specifically request the court to instruct the jury on the fact he was diagnosed as having a -- as being learning disabled, disability, had а learning diagnosed having impaired judgment, as diagnosed as having impaired reasoning, diagnosed as being of limited intellectual ability, including defined as borderline mentally retarded. He was diagnosed as having a hyperactive or attention deficit disorder. He was diagnosed as having organic mental syndrome or brain damage. He was diagnosed as having a bipolar disorder. Т would request the court specifically instruct the jury that these may be considered by them.

(R 964).

The State objected, noting that the standard instruction allowed the defense to argue all of those factors (R 965), causing defense counsel to state:

> Two things. First, we believe that these -those seven things are established clearly by evidence of the doctors, all three doctors, and we also believe that the specific language of number 8, gives the court the option and opportunity to so instruct the jury, and we request that it be done.

(R 969).

The court was not required to give any special instruction listing every possible, or even proffered, non-statutory

mitigating factor. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 556 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 1990). The jury was not precluded from considering any evidence, <u>Smith</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>Johnson v. Dugger</u>, 520 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1988), and of course, the trial judge considered all proffered non-statutory factors and discussed them in his order (R 1168). Thus, any "error" would clearly be harmless even if it existed.

(D) Duress

The defense wanted the trial court to alter the definition of "duress" (a statutory mitigating factor) to include some selfimposed "duress" that would arguably flow from other mental or emotional problems.

Section 921.141(e), Fla.Stat., clearly refers the to domination of a given defendant by another person and, as a result, the presence of external "duress". See Beltran-Lopez v. State, 583 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1991); Hill v. State, 515 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1987); Toole v. State, 479 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985). The concept of "internal duress", in addition to being facially illogical (the defendant did not coerce himself), is at most simply redundant to the statutory and non-statutory factors relating to "extreme mental or emotional disturbance" or some Thus, the proposed instruction both lesser mental problem. misstated the law and was superfluous. No reversible error is present.

POINT V

· · · ·

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN ANSWERING A QUESTION FROM THE ADVISORY JURY

As the Appellant correctly notes, the parties agreed that the advisory jury's request for a definition of "emotional disturbance" could not be answered, while they disagreed over the first part of the question (R 1018-1022).

The troublesome question related to the third statutory mitigating factor, which provided for mitigation if the defendant committed the offense "while he was under the influence" of an extreme mental disturbance. The question was somewhat illogical, since it asked "do you mean preexisting or present?" (mental disturbance) (R 1018). Clearly, the mental disturbance had to exist at the time of the offense (<u>i.e.</u>, "<u>while he was under</u>"), so conditions that either antedated or postdated the crime did not apply to that specific factor.

When the court reread the instruction, it did not mislead the jury. While Mr. Walls embarks upon his own argument (focusing on the term "extreme"), it is clear that it is Mr. Walls, not the court, who has failed to understand the nature of the question. The question dealt with <u>time</u>, not the definition of "extreme". As such, Mr. Walls' argument is irrelevant.

In <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1992), this Court reaffirmed the existence of judicial discretion in responding – or refusing to respond – to jury questions. (In that case, the trial court's refusal to respond was found not to have constituted an abuse of discretion where the defense was not inhibited from presenting or arguing any theory of mitigation by the Court's action).

- 23 -

Here, the court did not refuse to respond. It simply rejected Mr. Walls' argument regarding a topic not raised by the jury's question. It cannot be said that the defense was prejudiced in any way by the court's action.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE EXISTENCE OF FIVE AGGRAVATING FACTORS

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